FILED 11-19-15

Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72120-8-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM PHILLIP, JR.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The State violated Mr. Phillip's right to be free from unlawful searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7.

- 2. The court improperly refused to exclude illegally seized evidence obtained as a result of an invalid warrant.
- 3. The State did not prove that a second warrant to seize cell phone records was supported by probable cause or satisfied the independent source doctrine.
- 4. The court erroneously ruled that the State's omissions from the second warrant to seize cell phone records were not deliberate, reckless, and material to establishing probable cause.
- 5. The court improperly upheld the State's use of Mr. Phillip's exercise of his rights to counsel and to remain silent as incriminating evidence to obtain search warrants.
- 6. The court erroneously entered Finding of Fact A(7)(d). CP 904 (Findings of Fact from CrR 3.6 motion attached as Appendix A).
 - 7. The court erroneously entered Finding of Fact C(1)(a). CP 907.
 - 8. The court erroneously entered Finding of Fact C(1)(b). CP 907.
 - 9. The court erroneously entered Finding of Fact C(1)(c). *Id*.
- 10. To the extent the court's conclusions of law are considered findings of fact, the court erroneously entered Conclusions C (2)(b), (c), (d), (e), (f). CP 908.
 - 11. The court erroneously entered Conclusions of Law D (2), (3).

- 12. The court erroneously found no prejudice possibly resulted from the State's deliberate intrusion into privileged attorney-client communication. U.S. Const. amend, 6; Const. art.I, § 22; CrR 8.3.
- 13. The court improperly admitted lay testimony about the mechanisms of accurately tracking cell phone locations.
- 14. The jurors' violation of the court's instructions not to discuss the case during trial denied Mr. Phillip a fair trial by an impartial jury.
- 15. The court violated Mr. Phillip's right to a fair sentencing proceeding by unjustifiably ordering him to be shackled.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

- 1. When the State seizes evidence pursuant to an invalid warrant, the evidence obtained as a result must be excluded from trial. The State used an invalid warrant to get Mr. Phillip's cell phone data, which shaped the investigation and was central to the prosecution's case. Was the court required to suppress evidence seized due to an invalid warrant?
- 2. The independent source doctrine is a narrow exception to the near categorical exclusionary rule. Because its first cell phone warrant was flawed, the State obtained a second warrant for the same information. The second warrant application did not contain sufficient facts to justify the cell phone search, deliberately or recklessly omitted material exculpatory

information, used the exercise of the right to counsel as evidence of guilt, and was not independent of the prior illegal search. Do the numerous inadequacies in this second warrant require suppression of unlawfully seized private information?

- 3. A person may not be punished for legitimately exercising his rights to remain silent and have the assistance of counsel because these rights are constitutionally guaranteed. The State used Mr. Phillip's desire to have counsel before answering questions as demonstrating his guilt and thus authorizing the police to search his private affairs. Did the State punish Mr. Phillip for exercising his rights under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments and article I, sections 9 and 22?
- 4. When the State violates the guarantee of confidential communication between attorney and client by reading private communications, dismissal is the mandatory remedy unless the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt there is no possibility of prejudice. Is there a possibility that Mr. Phillip was prejudiced from the lead detective and prosecutor's deliberate review of private attorney communication referencing the incident when this intrusion was followed by further investigation, an additional search warrant, and likely affected the State's refusal to offer a plea bargain?

- 5. A witness offering opinions based on specialized knowledge must be qualified as an expert. The defense objected to a cell phone company employee's testimony because he was not qualified as an expert. Did the court improperly allow a lay witness to give specialized expert opinions about critical allegations against Mr. Phillip?
- 6. The right to a jury trial is predicated on impartial jurors. Jurors insure their impartiality by following the court's instruction not to discuss the case before deliberations. Where numerous jurors violated the court's instructions by discussing the case before deliberations, is there a possibility of prejudice requiring a new trial?
- 7. A defendant has a constitutionally protected right to appear before the court without wearing restraints. Over objection, Mr. Phillip was required to wear leg and arm shackles at sentencing despite his exemplary behavior. Did the court impermissibly order Mr. Phillip shackled without necessary individualized justification?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

In May 2010, Seth Frankel was renting apartment in a duplex near downtown Auburn. 3/11/14RP 102, 110-11, 145. He had left his wife one year earlier after rekindling a relationship with Bonnie Johnson, with whom he had an extramarital affair. 3/11/14RP 91, 98. Because Ms.

Johnson worked part-time as a radio announcer in Portland, she stayed with Mr. Frankel some days of the week and otherwise texted or called his cell phone frequently. 3/25/14RP 53, 59-60.

On Friday May 21, 2010, Ms. Johnson worked in the evening in Portland and planned to spend Saturday with her friend Amy Greene in Oregon. 3/25/14RP 70, 73. Mr. Frankel went to Fred Meyer for groceries at 8:20 p.m., according to a cash register receipt. 3/26/14RP 95. He planned on going camping alone for the weekend. 3/25/14RP 71-72. Ms. Johnson grew concerned when Mr. Frankel had not responded to her messages. 3/25/14RP 94. On May 22, 2010, she asked a neighbor to check on Mr. Frankel. 3/11/14RP 20; 3/25/14RP 113.

Next door neighbor Jim Fuston was watching a Mariners game in his living room during the evening of May 21, 2010, and his living room looks directly at Mr. Frankel's living room from 25 feet away. *Id.* at 62-63, 72. He did not hear any noises or see anything unusual from Mr. Frankel, although he saw regular drug trafficking at a nearby apartment and heard a woman crying on the street at about 10 p.m. 3/11/14RP 8, 37-38, 40. When Mr. Fuston checked on Mr. Frankel, he found the doors were locked but saw a body on the floor and called 911. *Id.* at 27, 41.

Police discovered Mr. Frankel had been killed inside his home, near the front door's entry. 3/11/14RP 152-53. He was stabbed in the throat by a sharp instrument and hit on the head, with smaller cuts his arms and hand, and he bled a lot. 3/12/14RP 24; 4/7/14RP 153-4. There was one zip tie under his sleeve and another on the floor. 3/12/14RP 29, 3/26/14RP 215-16. The rest of the apartment was undisturbed. 3/11/14RP 190-91.

The police questioned Ms. Johnson, searching her cell phone and giving her a polygraph test that indicated some deception. 3/24/14RP 40; 3/26/14RP 67, 117, 125; CP 50. Her cell phone records showed she often exchanged text messages with two men, William Phillip and James Whipkey. CP 26. In order to learn if Mr. Phillip or Mr. Whipkey might be involved, the police obtained search warrants for both men's cell phone records for a two-month period. CP 26-28.

Mr. Phillip lived in Portland. He had worked with Ms. Johnson at the Oregon Convention Center, where both had part-time jobs setting up equipment for events. 3/25/14RP 16, 22. The two dated for less than two months in early 2009. 3/25/14RP 25-26. Ms. Johnson ended their romance quickly and they remained friends. *Id.* at 29-30. Mr. Phillip continued to express feelings for her but Ms. Johnson believed they had "transitioned to friendship." *Id.* at 34, 35. After Ms. Johnson and Mr. Frankel resumed

their affair in April 2009, Ms. Johnson left her job at the Oregon Convention Center, spent most of her free time with Mr. Frankel, and rarely saw Mr. Phillip. 3/25/14RP 33, 39-40. She and Mr. Phillip intermittently shared friendly or flirtatious text messages. 3/25/14RP 164. Mr. Phillip dated or flirted with other women as well. 4/3/14RP 23; 4/1/14RP 166-69, 187-88.

In June 2010, the police received Mr. Phillip's cell phone data from the warrant. CP 10. It showed he traveled to Kent and Auburn on May 21, 2010. CP 52-53. He left Auburn sometime before 8:56 p.m. and returned to Portland. *Id.* The medical examiner said Mr. Frankel's time of death was between 8 p.m. and 4:30 a.m., but it was "probably not very close to 8 p.m." and likely much later. 4/7/15RP 135, 159.

Citing the cell phone records, the police procured warrants to search Mr. Phillip's home, his motorcycle, his mother's car, his email accounts, his phone, and obtain his DNA. CP 10-12, 20-138 (warrants attached to CrR 3.6 motion to suppress). They did not find any physical evidence linked to Mr. Frankel but found undated journal entries where Mr. Phillip appeared to express his feelings for Ms. Johnson. 4/8/14RP 103-11. Police extensively searched Mr. Frankel's home and office. The only potential forensic link to Mr. Phillip was from a towel found under

other items in the living room. 3/24/14RP 158-59. The towel had a "very small" blood stain, the size of a grain of rice. 4/2/14RP 104, 174. It contained a mixed sample of DNA; 92 percent was from Mr. Frankel at a statistical likelihood of one in 350 quadrillion. 4/2/14RP 117. The other eight percent of the mixture could not rule out Mr. Phillip as a contributor, at a statistical likelihood of one in 2.2 million. 4/2/14RP 137. The towel also had some long hairs that were not from Mr. Frankel or Mr. Phillip, but could have been Ms. Johnson's. 4/2/14RP 102; 4/3/14RP 72-73; 4/9/14RP 113.

The police interviewed Mr. Phillip several times. He made no incriminating statements but asked to have a lawyer present. 10/16/13RP 15, 44, 107. The police used his request for a lawyer as evidence of his culpability when requesting search warrants. CP 74, 104, 110. Police saw that Mr. Phillip had severe bruising on one hand and a small band-aid on the webbing between his thumb and forefinger, but they verified that his hand was injured in an accident at work. 3/26/14RP 148-59; 4/7/14RP 14-16. He had no other visible wounds. 3/24/14RP 12-13, 17.

Although the investigating detectives knew Mr. Phillip had a lawyer and requested that his counsel be present when questioned about his potential involvement in the incident, the lead detective found emails

Mr. Phillip sent to a second lawyer. 2/24/14RP 20-21. The detective read the email and described them in a report. 2/24/14RP 33, 37, 39. At the prosecutor's request, the detective forwarded the email to him, aware that it was an incriminating statement to a lawyer. 2/24/14RP 38-39. The court ruled these actions violated Mr. Phillip's right to confidential attorney communications but no prejudice resulted. 2/26/14RP 4-7.

The State charged Mr. Phillip with first degree murder. CP 1. At trial, an AT&T records custodian described how AT&T's cell towers track signals from Mr. Phillip's cell phone and show his movements. 3/31/14RP 32-132. The court overruled Mr. Phillip's objection to this specialized testimony. CP 406-11, 521-30; 10/17/13RP 98-112; 3/31/14RP 11, 56, 83.

After a lengthy trial, the jury could not reach a verdict. 11/18/13RP 25. The State immediately set a second trial. 12/20/13RP 5-6. Because the two trials involved essentially the same testimony, the parties relied upon the evidentiary rulings and objections from the first trial. 2/26/14RP 88. The second jury convicted Mr. Phillip of first degree murder. CP 845.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. After the court voided a search warrant of a cell phone because it lacked probable cause, the exclusionary rule required suppression of the private personal details and resulting evidence gathered

The police used a tenuous connection between Mr. Frankel's girlfriend and Mr. Phillip to obtain a warrant for all of Mr. Phillip's cell phone records for a two-month period, including all cell towers his phone had accessed, all calls made and received, and all text messages. A judge later ruled this warrant was invalid because it lacked probable cause. CP 907. But the judge refused to exclude any evidence obtained despite the clear application of the exclusionary rule.

a. A person's unassailable privacy interest in data available from searching his cell phone requires a valid warrant.

Cell phones are capable of storing immense amounts of private information, including tracking a person's location over long periods of time, collecting any personal contacts, and holding thousands of photographs with dates, locations, and descriptions. *Riley v. California*, _ U.S. _, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2489-90, 189 L/Ed.2d 430 (2014). Cell phones contain "a digital record of nearly every aspect of their [owners'] lives," and include access to "data located elsewhere." *Id.* Consequently, searches of this digital information "involve a degree of intrusiveness much greater

in quantity, if not different in kind" from other searches. *United States v. Payton*, 573 F.3d 859, 861 (9th Cir. 2009).

"It is well-established that article I, section 7 is qualitatively different from the Fourth Amendment and provides greater protections." *State v. Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 868, 319 P.3d 9 (2014); U.S. Const. amend. 4. Article I, section 7 "clearly recognizes an individual's right to privacy with no express limitations and places greater emphasis on privacy." *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343, 348, 979 P.2d 833 (1999).

The personal, sensitive information conveyed over telephones is a private affair protected by article I, section 7. *Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d at 871-72, 874; *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 68, 720 P.2d 808 (1986) (article I, section 7 protects phone numbers dialed, even without listening to the content of the calls). The scope of private information available on a cell phone requires "greater vigilance" from courts when authorizing a search that "could become a vehicle for the government to gain access to a larger pool of data that it has no probable cause to collect." *United States v. Schesso*, 730 F.3d 1040, 1042 (9th Cir. 2013).

The police obtained a warrant for Mr. Phillip's cell phone data on May 27, 2010. CP 26-28. It broadly authorized the police to obtain all cell tower locations his phone accessed, text messages, and call logs between

April 1 and May 26, 2010. *Id.* These records showed Mr. Phillip's phone was near Mr. Frankel's home on the day Mr. Frankel was killed. CP 51-54.

Judge Darvas ruled that this warrant was not supported by probable cause. 10/15/13RP 62; CP 908. The warrant application only mentioned Mr. Phillip in passing, by alleging Ms. Johnson's phone records showed "a significant relationship with two males," one of whom was JR, Mr. Phillip's nickname. CP 26. Its bare allegations that Mr. Phillip had "briefly dated" Ms. Johnson and "still communicated with her via text and phone calls" lacked the necessary reasonable basis to suspect Mr. Phillip was involved in Mr. Frankel's death. 10/15/13RP 62-63; CP 907. Similarly, Judge Cayce refused to sign a warrant seeking Mr. Phillip's DNA due to the sparse connection between Mr. Phillip and the crime. CP 9. Yet the judge concluded that none of the evidence gathered was tainted by the illegal seizure despite its critical link in the police investigation. 10/17/13RP 6-12. This conclusion was erroneous.

¹ The rejected DNA warrant included far more factual allegations than the cell phone warrant. CP 42. It alleged numerous communications between Ms. Johnson and Mr. Phillip on the three days before Mr. Frankel died and included Ms. Johnson's opinion that Mr. Phillip was the only person she could think of who "could/would do something like the murder of Seth Frankel." Id.

b. The exclusionary rule bars the State's use of illegally obtained information following an improper invasion of a person's private affairs.

When the police intrude upon a person's private affairs without valid authority of law, the illegality triggers a "nearly categorical" exclusion of the evidence gathered as a result under article I, section 7. *State v. Winterstein,* 167 Wn.2d 620, 636, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009). Unlike the Fourth Amendment, article I, section 7 emphasizes "protecting personal rights rather than ... curbing governmental actions." *Id.* The remedy of exclusion is automatic whenever the right to privacy is violated because article I, section 7 "clearly recognizes an individual's right to privacy with no express limitations." *State v. Afana,* 169 Wn.2d 169, 180, 233 P.3d 879 (2010), quoting *State v. White,* 97 Wn.2d 92, 110, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982).

The court may not guess whether illegally obtained evidence would have been inevitably discovered had the police acted differently.

Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d at 635. The Fourth Amendment's inevitable discovery doctrine "is incompatible with the nearly categorical exclusionary rule under article I, section 7." *Id.* at 636. Unlike the Fourth Amendment, there is no "good faith" exception to article I, section 7.

Afana, 165 Wn.2d at 180. "When an unconstitutional search or seizure

occurs, all subsequently uncovered evidence becomes fruit of the poisonous tree and must be suppressed." *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343, 359, 979 P.2d 833 (1999).

The independent source doctrine is one of the rare exceptions to article I, section 7's otherwise automatic suppression of unlawfully seizing evidence. *State v. Gaines*, 154 Wn.2d 711, 722, 116 P.3d 993 (2005); *State v. Miles*, 159 Wn.App. 282, 291, 244 P.3d 1030, *rev. denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1022 (2011). But this doctrine is narrowly construed. It requires a separate source of valid legal authority to obtain the information sought and the State also bears the "onerous burden" of proving "that no information gained from the illegal entry affected either the law enforcement officers' decision to seek a warrant," or the magistrate's decision to grant it. *Murray v. United States*, 487 U.S. 533, 540, 108 S.Ct. 2529, 101 L.Ed.2d 472 (1988). The "ultimate question" is whether the second search is "in fact a genuinely independent source of the information and tangible evidence at issue." *Id.* at 542.

Here, two years after the first warrant, the State asked the same judge to authorize a second warrant for the same cell phone data because it realized the first warrant might not withstand judicial scrutiny. CP 130-35. This second warrant does not cure the constitutional violation because it

lacked the necessary factual basis to obtain vast data tracking Mr. Phillip's private information and was not genuinely independent of the first warrant.

c. The second cell phone warrant does not authorize the cell phone search because it was not supported by probable cause.

First, a search warrant may only be issued upon a showing of probable cause. *Kyllo v. United States*, 533 U.S. 27, 40, 121 S.Ct. 2038, 150 L.Ed. 2d 94 (2001); *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999); U.S. Const. amends. 4 & 14; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 7. When an officer uses intentional or reckless perjury to secure a warrant, "a constitutional violation obviously occurs" because "the oath requirement implicitly guarantees that probable cause rests on an affiant's good faith." *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 473, 158 P.3d 595 (2007), citing *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 155-56, 98 S.Ct 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978).

Unsupported conclusions or speculation are insufficient for probable cause. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 145-46. The court may draw reasonable inferences from the surrounding circumstances. Whether an affidavit contains sufficient facts to establish probable cause is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Nusbaum*, 126 Wn.App. 160, 166-67, 107 P.3d 768 (2005).

i. The warrant lacked probable cause to seize a broad array of First Amendment protected information.

Probable cause to invade a person's private affairs requires a "nexus between the items to be seized and the place to be searched" that is "established by specific facts," and not speculation or general conclusions. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 145. There must be "a sufficient basis in fact" showing "evidence of illegal activity will likely be found at the place to be searched" as a matter of law. *Id.* at 147. An affiant's suspicion is legally insufficient. *Id.* at 145-47. When a warrant authorizes the seizure of protected First Amendment speech, including affiliations and interests, courts rigorously enforce the particularity requirement to prevent general rummaging through private affairs. *State v. Besola*, _ Wn.2d _, 2015 WL 6777228, *2-3 (2015).

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