FILED
3-28-16

Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72120-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

WILLIAM PHILLIP, JR.,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE ANDREA DARVAS

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID SEAVER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PHILLIP'S CRR 3.6 MOTION TO SUPPRESS

Phillip challenges the trial court's ruling on his trial attorneys'

CrR 3.6 suppression motion at length, in a somewhat haphazard

manner. Distilled to its essence, Phillip's contention is two-fold.

First, he asserts that the trial court, after ruling that the investigators' original search warrant affidavit in May 2010 for records from his cell phone service provider failed to establish probable cause, erred by determining that later warrants for other searches nevertheless withstood constitutional scrutiny after excision from the underlying affidavits of any reference to information obtained from the invalid warrant for cell phone usage records. Second, Phillip contends that the trial court erred when it concluded that the State could present information found within the cell phone provider's records because that information derived from an independent source, i.e., a March 2012 warrant for the same records, issued upon presentation of a revised affidavit that the trial court found to be more thorough than the initial May 2010 submission and which did not depend on or incorporate information obtained as a result of the original, invalid warrant.

Phillip's contentions should be rejected. The May 27, 2010, warrant provided some probative information regarding Phillip's movement on the night of Frankel's violent death, but cannot in any way be characterized as crucial evidence that the police relied upon when seeking additional search warrants, such that those warrants would not have issued in its absence. And the investigators'

subsequent submission of a more thorough affidavit for the usage records of Phillip's cell phone service provider should be recognized for what it was: a reasonable effort to obtain a warrant based on independent information, in order to correct an earlier infringement of Phillip's privacy interest.

a. Each subsequent warrant was supported by probable cause after invalidly-obtained information was excised.

In the course of investigating Frankel's murder on May 22, 2010, investigators with, or working in association with, the Auburn Police Department obtained the following search warrants relating to Phillip:

Date of Warrant's Issuance	Items/Locations relating to Phillip to be Searched Pursuant to Warrant
May 27, 2010	Usage records in possession of AT&T relating to Phillip's personal cell phone device
June 22, 2010	Phillip's apartment, vehicle, and person
November 5, 2010	Phillip's DNA, to be collected via buccal swab
January 25, 2012	Phillip's cell phone device
March 22, 2012	Usage records in possession of AT&T relating to Phillip's personal cell phone device

CP 21-138.

The trial court ruled that the affidavit supporting the request for the May 27, 2010, search warrant failed to establish probable cause that Phillip had been involved in criminal activity or that his phone records would include evidence of such activity. 9RP 62-63; CP 908. However, the trial court held that the initial obtainment of the invalid warrant did not require suppression of evidence obtained through the later warrants issued from June 2010 through January 2012, because those warrants were supported by probable cause that did not depend on information gathered through the execution of the May 2010 warrant. 11RP 4-13; CP 908.

An affidavit in support of a search warrant must contain sufficient facts to lead a reasonable person to conclude there is a probability that the defendant was involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime may be found at a certain location. State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 251, 264, 76 P.3d 217 (2003). Probable cause requires only a probability of criminal activity and not a prima facie showing of guilt. State v. Cherry, 61 Wn. App. 301, 304, 810 P.2d 940 (1991); see also State v. Fore, 56 Wn. App. 339, 344, 783 P.2d 626 (1989) (observing that probable cause "is not negated merely because it is possible to imagine an innocent explanation" for certain events). The affidavit is evaluated in a commonsense,

rather than hypertechnical, manner, and any doubts are resolved in favor of the warrant. <u>Jackson</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 265. Reasonableness is the key. <u>State v. Patterson</u>, 83 Wn.2d 49, 52, 515 P.2d 496 (1973). A judge's decision to issue a warrant is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and great deference is accorded to that decision. <u>Jackson</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 265. However, where, as here, a trial court assesses an affidavit for probable cause at a suppression hearing, this Court reviews the trial court's conclusions *de novo*. <u>State v. Neth</u>, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

At the outset, it is critical to identify precisely what was obtained from Phillip's cell phone service provider after the initial search warrant was obtained. In his brief to this Court, Phillip appears to equate the breadth of a cell phone provider's records of a customer's usage to what can be found in a search of the customer's cell phone device itself. This is mistaken, as was made clear in the investigators' affidavits in support of their requests for later warrants, and at trial through the testimony of cell phone company personnel and a police forensic specialist. In actuality, the service provider delivered records that documented only the following facts: when Phillip used his phone to make and receive phone calls and text messages between April 1, 2010, and May 26,

2010; the phone numbers of the parties with whom Phillip communicated, and the cell tower nearest to Phillip's phone when he began a phone call, connected to the internet, or received a text message. 60RP 47-51, 57-70. CP 31.

For purposes of this appeal, the State does not take issue with the trial court's ruling that this information from Phillip's cell service provider was improperly obtained due to a too-short, insufficient affidavit that omitted significant facts already known to the police.² This does not end the inquiry, however, as to the admissibility of evidence obtained from subsequent warrants.

A search warrant is not rendered totally invalid if the underlying affidavit contains sufficient facts to establish probable cause independent of the illegally obtained information. State v. Gaines, 154 Wn.2d 711, 718, 116 P.3d 993 (2005) (emphasis added), quoting State v. Coates, 107 Wn.2d 882, 735 P.2d 64

² The State also does not dispute that phone company records implicate privacy concerns protected by the state constitution. See State v. Gunwall, 108 Wn.2d 54, 63, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). However, these records do not include the intensely private matters that can be found within a cell phone itself, and Phillip is incorrect when he cites to inapposite case law to sensationalize his claim. See Brief of Appellant, at 11-13, citing Riley v. California, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 189 L. Ed. 2d 430 (2014). Indeed, it was only following the acquisition of a separate warrant in 2012 that the police examined Phillip's personal phone itself, and it was only then that investigators discovered the content of many text messages that he had sent to Johnson, which were not available on her phone, along with his internet browsing history. CP 128-29; 61RP 71-73, 86, 116-32, 149-50.

(1987). Thus, it was entirely appropriate for the trial court to look at the more-extensive affidavits submitted in support of the warrants obtained in June and November 2010, and in January 2012, to see if they established probable cause to believe that Phillip was involved in criminal activity, after excising all references to information obtained from Phillip's cell service provider.

The trial court's conclusion that each of these warrants withstood constitutional scrutiny even after such excision is eminently justifiable. Post-elision of any reference within the June 2010 affidavit to facts obtained from Phillip's cell service provider pursuant to the May 2010 warrant, the affidavit described:

- The violent nature of the crime scene in Frankel's home.
- The presence of two zip-ties at the crime scene, including one wrapped around Frankel's right wrist.
- Frankel's romantic relationship with Johnson.
- Johnson's previous romantic relationship with Phillip.
- The fact that Johnson, when asked to identify anyone whom she knew who would want to harm Frankel, stated that the only person she could think of was Phillip.
- The fact that when investigators spoke to Phillip in early June 2010, he had a significant cut on his right hand, which he attempted to keep concealed from the investigators. When asked about the injury, Phillip claimed to have injured his hand at his workplace.

- That although Phillip was willing to speak to the detectives, he refused to answer any questions about travel to Auburn.
- The fact that zip-ties identical to those found at the crime scene were readily available at Phillip's workplace.
- That although Phillip had indeed hurt his hand while at work, a co-worker who was present at the event told investigators that Phillip's hand had not been cut.
- Phillip sent a number of text messages to Johnson, which Johnson showed to police on her phone, of a continuing romantic nature.

CP 47-55.

After excision of any reference to the records obtained from Phillip's cell service provider, the affidavit in support of the November 2010 search warrant for a buccal swab of Phillip's DNA included all of the above-listed items, as well as the fact that forensic analysis of a blood stain on a towel located at the crime scene revealed the presence of both Frankel's DNA and that of another, unidentified man. CP 90-91. This affidavit further explained that Phillip's mother had told police that Phillip, who typically used a motorcycle for his transportation needs, had borrowed her car on May 21, 2010, and returned it to her the following day. CP 86. Also, Phillip's mother explained to investigators that Phillip was in love with Johnson. CP 115.

Lastly, the January 2012 affidavit submitted by Auburn detectives in order to be allowed to examine Phillip's phone referred to the fact that it was Phillip's DNA that had been found on the towel located at the crime scene, and that Phillip had been arrested for this murder in December 2010. CP 125.

All of this information led the trial court to reasonably conclude that suppression of the evidence obtained via the June and November 2010 and January 2012 was uncalled-for. The superior court presented with the June 2010 affidavit was told of an horrific crime scene, suggesting an attack motivated by personal hostility, as opposed to an interrupted burglary or other crime between strangers. Johnson identified Phillip, an ex-boyfriend, as the only person she could imagine who would want to harm Frankel. Thus, the court learned of a romantic triangle involving a rejected and frustrated lover, who bore an injury, seen by police days after Frankel's stabbing death, which was consistent with a cutting attack, and which was something that Phillip attempted to hide from the investigators. Phillip had easy access at his job to a distinctive object found at the crime scene – zip-ties, one of which had been wrapped around Frankel's wrist. Furthermore, the warrant-issuing court was informed that though Phillip voluntarily

spoke to investigating detectives, he affirmatively refused to answer questions about any travel he may have made to the city where Frankel and Johnson lived.³ Also, Phillip's explanation for his injured hand was inconsistent with the description provided by a third party with no stake in the investigation. The superior court in June 2010 was thus provided with substantial evidence implicating Phillip that had nothing to do with the information contained in the records released by his cell phone service provider.

As to the November 2010 and January 2012 warrants, the trial court logically concluded that all of the information presented in the June 2010 warrant affidavit (post-excision of references to cell phone records), coupled with the trace evidence gathered and analyzed after June 2010, along with information gathered from Phillip's mother, and discussed in the November 2010 and January 2012 warrant affidavits, justified the issuance of those warrants as supported by probable cause. Given that nothing in the later affidavits undermined the information presented in the June 2010 warrant, and, instead, confirmed the investigators' belief in Phillip's

³ Although a refusal to cooperate cannot, by itself, justify police suspicion, it can be taken into consideration among the totality of circumstances supporting a seizure. See Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 437, 111 S. Ct. 2382, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991); see also State v. Grenning, 142 Wn. App. 518, 534, 174 P.3d 706 (2008) (noting that affidavits of probable cause need not meet the standards governing admissibility of evidence at trial).

culpability, suppression of the later-obtained evidence would have been ill-advised.

b. The trial court properly admitted the records from Phillip's cell phone service provider under the "independent source" exception to the exclusionary rule.

Much of the abundant, validly-obtained information provided to the superior court that issued the June 2010 warrant was known to the police before they sought the May 27, 2010, warrant for records from Phillip's cell service company. Unfortunately, the investigators, in their urgency to capture a violent killer, failed to include a good deal of that evidence in their affidavit to the May 2010 court. CP 26-27 (discussing Phillip only as a co-worker of Johnson's whom she briefly dated, and whose phone number was found on Johnson's cell phone). It was this scarcity of information connecting Phillip to Frankel's death that led the trial court to find an absence of probable cause that would justify a search of Phillips cell phone usage records. 9RP 62-63.

The inadequacy of the May 2010 affidavit had already come to the attention of the deputy prosecutor assigned to this matter. In March 2012, the prosecutor directed a lead detective in the investigation to prepare a more thorough affidavit in an effort to

obtain a second warrant for the cell company's usage records. CP 132. The detective did so, including in her affidavit only information that was known to the police *prior to* their obtainment of the May 2010 warrant. CP 131-35. The detective presented the revised affidavit to the superior court that had initially (and erroneously) issued the May 2010 warrant, and that court, satisfied with the improved affidavit, issued a new warrant for the same records, on March 22, 2012. CP 137-38.

The trial court denied Phillip's motion to suppress the cell phone records obtained pursuant to the March 2012 warrant, concluding that they had been obtained on the basis of a presentation of facts that were separate from, and independent of, information unlawfully obtained pursuant to the invalid May 2010 warrant. 9RP 63-65; CP 907-08.

Phillip's appeal to this Court of this aspect of the trial court's CrR 3.6 ruling should be rejected. The "independent source" exception to the exclusionary rule applies when the State lawfully seizes evidence that had originally been obtained during an unlawful search, so long as the later seizure is genuinely independent of the earlier, tainted search. State v. Miles, 159 Wn. App. 282, 295, 244 P.3d 1030 (2011), quoting Murray v. United

States, 487 U.S. 533, 108 S. Ct. 2529, 101 L. Ed. 2d 472 (1988). This exception, which prohibits admission of evidence gathered illegally while still permitting the trier of fact to learn of information properly acquired, "finely balances the rights of the accused with society's interest in prosecuting criminal activity and ensures that the State is placed in neither better nor worse position as a result of the officers' improper actions." Gaines, 154 Wn.2d at 720.4

The inquiry into whether the independent source exception applies in a particular instance focuses on two issues: the motivation of the investigators seeking the warrant (in this case, the second warrant), and the question of whether the information presented in the warrant, including no reference whatsoever to facts unlawfully obtained, nevertheless satisfied the probable cause standard. Miles, 159 Wn. App. at 294.

As to the first question, the decision here to seek the second warrant was reached by the prosecutor assigned to the matter, who was concerned with the validity of the initial warrant. CP 132. His motivation, thus, was not the product of what the investigators had

⁴ <u>See also Sutton v. U.S.</u>, 267 F.2d 271, 272 (4th Cir. 1959) (observing that it "is one thing to say that officers shall gain no advantage from violating the individual's rights; it is quite another to declare that such a violation shall put him beyond the law's reach even if his guilt can be proved by evidence that has been obtained lawfully.").

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